FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
4/12/2021 1:44 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/12/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 53439-8-II

99620-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST ABATEMENT SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Michael T. Zoretic, WSBA No. 21221 ZORETIC LAW, PLLC PO Box 427 Pateros, WA 98846 (206) 465-8109 (Tel) mike@zoreticlaw.com

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED 7
1. Legal Standards on Review of Board Decision
A. The Court of Appeals' statement and application of the "zone of danger" analysis, interpreting other Court of Appeals decisions, conflicts with the Supreme Court's ruling in <i>Adkins</i> v. <i>Aluminum Co. of America</i> , 110 Wn.2d 128 (1998) 9
B. Substantial evidence did not support the conclusion that Northwest Abatement committed fall protection violations under applicable regulations
C. Substantial evidence did not support Board's determination that Northwest Abatement committed traffic flagging violations
D. The Court of Appeals' determination that Northwest Abatement's employee was engaged in "temporary traffic control" was inconsistent with <i>Pilchuck Mechanical, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.</i> , 170 Wn. App. 514, 519, (Div. I 2021)
E. Substantial evidence does not support the determination that Northwest Abatement committed asbestos violations17
F. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Table of Cases Page
Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of America, 110 Wn.2d 128, 750 P.2d 1257 (1988)
Pilchuck Mechanical, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 170 Wn. App. 514, 519, 286 P.3d 383 (Div. I 2012))
Mowat Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 148 Wn. App. 920, 924, 201 P.3d 407 (2009)
SuperValu, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 158 Wn.2d 422, 433, 144 P.3d 1160 (2006)
J.E. Dunn Northwest., Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus, 139 Wn. App. 35, 42, 156 P.3d 250 (2007)
Shimmick Construction Co. v. Dep't of Labor and Industries, 12 Wn. App. 2d 770, 460 P.3d 192 (Div. I 2020)
Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus., 136 Wn. App. 1, 5, 146 P.3d 1212 (Div. I 2006)
Evergreen Techs., Inc., 18 BNA OSHC 1528, 1998 WL 518250, at *7, Id. at *17 (No. 98-0348)
Secretary of Labor v. Tricon Industries, Inc., 24 BNA OSHRC 1427 (No. 11-1877, 012)
Secretary of Labor v. Fastrack Erectors, 21 BNA OSHC 1109 (No. 04-0780, 2004)
Statutes/Other Authority
RCW 49.17.180(6)
WAC 296-155-305
WAC 296-24-15001
WAC 296-155-24611(1)(a)13, 14

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Northwest Abatement Services, Inc. ("NWAS") asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in Part B of this petition.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Northwest Abatement requests review of the Court of Appeals for Division II's unpublished decision filed on March 2, 2021. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix at pages A-1 through A-32.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Is the Court of Appeals' statement and application of the "zone of danger" standard, relying on other Court of Appeals decisions, in conflict with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of America*, 110 Wn.2d 128 (1988), which required the presence of a hazard and limits the zone of danger to normal areas of work?
- B. Did substantial evidence and applicable law support the Board of Industrial Appeal's determination that Northwest Abatement committed fall protection violations when Northwest Abatement workers did not enter the six-foot wide demarcation zone from edge of the roof and were not shown to be using the debris chute on the roof?
- C. Did substantial evidence support the Board's determination that Northwest Abatement committed traffic flagging violations when the employee was a) briefly spotting for the company dump truck while it was backing up, b) was not controlling traffic, c) no other traffic was present in the area, and d) the employee was not in danger?
- D. Was the Court of Appeals' determination that Northwest Abatement's employee was engaged in "temporary traffic control" inconsistent with Division I's published decision in *Pilchuck Mechanical*, *Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 170 Wn. App. 514, 519 (2012), which involved an employee who actually controlled traffic?

E. Did substantial evidence support the Board's determination that Northwest Abatement committed asbestos violations when the Department did not establish by testing or other substantial evidence that the materials being removed at that time contained asbestos, and instead relied on speculative and conjecture testimony by the Department inspectors?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

On July 26, 2016, Northwest Abatement was engaging in a roof tear off job, consisting of approximately 12,000 square feet, at 955 Tacoma Avenue S., in Tacoma, Washington. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 18). The core sample taken from the jobsite established the presence of Chrysotile asbestos, described as black asphaltic fibrous materials, within five of the thirteen roof layers. (Exhibit 2, page 2). A brown, non-asbestos containing fibrous material was also present at the bottom layers. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 31; Exhibit 2, page 2).

Because the project involved Class II asbestos material, Northwest Abatement, a certified asbestos firm, was hired to remove the roofing materials down to the concrete deck. Before starting the project, Northwest Abatement walked the site, held a safety meeting, and established fall protection and other safety requirements. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 13, 33). *Id.*, Exhibits A-G and N-R.

Fields Roofing was hired to put in a new roof after the abatement work was completed (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 32-33). Fields Roofing had been expected to install a guardrail perimeter system around the edge of the roof on the first day of the project, as well as a debris chute with proper protections as per the site's fall protection plan. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 9). However, because the fall protection

¹ The Certified Appeal Board Record (CABR) is referenced in the Clerk's Papers. The Transcripts are referenced and supplemented to the CABR. Transcripts will be referred to by "Tr." with the date and page number(s).

plan had not yet been completed, Northwest Abatement was forced to revised its fall protection plan. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 9). Northwest Abatement then set up a warning line 6-feet from the building's edge to let its crews know where it was safe to work (i.e. inside that line). It also installed a cable for workers to tie onto in the event they had to leave the delineated area. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 63; Tr. 8/8/17, p. 9-10). Northwest Abatement workers used the fall protection provided during the early part of the project when approaching the chute. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 157, 160, 184).

Northwest Abatement started by working on the east edge with the objective of moving the edge of the roof so that Field Roofing could continue building the railing. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 64). To remove the roofing material, Northwest Abatement employees donned personal protective equipment (including Tyvek suits and respirators), watered down the roofing material, cut the top layer of roofing material with a cutter, and removed the other layers with shovels/axes down to the concrete. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 155-56, 170, 182).

Northwest Abatement used wheelbarrows to dispose of the roofing material into a raised chute connected to a dumpster, utilizing bags for the dusty material. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 69, 158). Northwest Abatement had workers behind the regulated area bringing the wheelbarrows to workers outside of the regulated area, who transported debris to the chute. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 66). Northwest Abatement also had a designated area that was roped off with an opening attached, allowing wheelbarrows to pass through. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 183).

The asbestos containing layers of the roof (i.e., the black asphaltic material) were removed, stored and disposed of in a manner consistent with

asbestos safety regulations. (Hamilton, Tr. 8/7/17, p. 99-100). Northwest Abatement then began removal of the brown, fibrous non-asbestos layer. *Id.*

On July 26, 2016, the Department initiated an inspection of the worksite after Andrew Baja, a Department management analyst unaffiliated with its health and safety division (DOSH), claimed to see a worker on the roof without fall protection. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 69-70). Maili Jonkman, Compliance Safety and Health Officer ("CSHO"), initiated a safety inspection and contacted industrial hygienist Lisa Van Loo to initiate a health inspection related to the asbestos issues discussed below. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 18).

A. <u>Alleged Fall Hazard Violations</u>.

The Department claimed Northwest Abatement employee Richard Crakes was not wearing fall protection when dumping material into the chute, which they allege constituted a "fall hazard." (Tr. 8/9/17, p. 29-30; Exhibit 1, page 7). The Department relied primarily on the observations of Mr. Baja, the non-DOSH employee. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 68, 81). However, while Mr. Baja testified generally that he thought the workers were walking all over the rooftop, he could not state specifically where he saw them. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 71). The Department was also not able to determine the distance Mr. Crakes was from the edge of the roof. (Tr. 8/9/17, p. 67).

The Department also relied on photographs showing Mr. Crakes standing in the vicinity of the exposed side of the chute. CP 88-84. However, Mr. Crakes testified he did not remember ever dumping material down the chute before the guardrail was up. (Tr. 8/8/17, p. 161). Northwest Abatement's project manager Forrest Hamilton further testified he did not

observe Mr. Crakes was standing near the chute without fall protection. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 96). In fact, Mr. Crakes testified that dumping material down the chute with a wheelbarrow would only have taken approximately three seconds, and he did not know whether he dumped material down the chute more than once without the guardrail in place. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 161).

B. <u>Alleged Traffic Flagging Violations</u>.

Northwest Abatement was responsible for hauling away the removed material, which required a dump truck to backing up to the refuse container and transport it from the worksite. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 70-71). Doug Murphy, a Northwest Abatement worker, helped "spot" for the truck by standing in a bus lane with a stop/slow paddle to help the truck back in for a period of less than two minutes. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 127, 143). No cars or buses were present during the short time Mr. Murphy helped the truck back up. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 71, 101).

Despite the short duration and lack of traffic control provided, the Department cited Northwest Abatement for failing to comply with the requirement for flagging under WAC 296-155-305, which would have required wearing a high-visibility safety garment and hat, possession of a traffic control flagger card, and a three-sign warning system.

C. Alleged Asbestos Violations.

Mr. Hamilton testified that when Northwest Abatement was picking up the brown cellulose layer, all of the black asphaltic material with chrysotile (the asbestos containing material) had already been removed. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 99-100). In fact, CSHO Van Loo conducted a test, which verified no asbestos was contained in the brown fibrous material. (Tr. 8/9/17, p. 184-

86). Nevertheless, the Department issued notices of violation for Northwest Abatement's alleged failure to comply with asbestos regulations in their handling of this non-asbestos containing material.

In claiming Northwest Abatement was required to follow asbestos protocols on this portion of the work, the Department relied upon the good faith inspection/bulk sample (Exhibit 2, page 2) to establish asbestos exposure. This <u>only</u> showed the presence of black asphaltic fibrous material containing chrysotile (asbestos) in layers 3, 5, 7, 9, and 11, with the brown, non-asbestos containing fibrous material underneath. (Tr. 8/7/17, p. 26-29; Exhibit 2, page 2). The good faith survey clearly establishes that the brown, non-asbestos containing fibrous material contained in the photographic exhibits did not contain asbestos. (Exhibit 2, page 2; Tr. 8/7/17, p. 98).

2. <u>PROCEDURAL HISTORY.</u>

On October 24, 2016, the Department issued one repeat serious, three serious, and three general violations against Northwest Abatement in Citation No. 317941556 for alleged fall protection, flagging, and traffic control violations of the Washington Industrial Safety and Health Act ("WISHA"). (CABR 436-43). On January 19, 2017, the Department issued Corrective Notice of Redetermination (CNR) No. 317941556, which affirmed the violations. (CABR 431-35).

On January 6, 2017, the Department issued thirteen serious violations and one repeat general violation against Northwest Abatement in Citation and Notice No. 317941568 for alleged asbestos violations of WISHA. (CABR 445-457).

Northwest Abatement timely appealed and CNR No. 317941556 and Citation No. 317941568 and were consolidated for hearings at the Board. (CABR 292-294). Hearings were held on August 7-9 of 2017 by Industrial Appeals Judge Leslie Birnbaum ("IAJ"), who issued an order affirming CNR No. 317941556 and affirming as modified Citation No. 317941568, which vacated Violations 1-1a and 1-10. The repeat general violation was withdrawn. (CABR 49-83).

Northwest Abatement filed a timely Petition for Review of the IAJ's Order. (CABR 24-46). On March 14, 2018, the Board affirmed the modified CNR No. 317941556, reduced the penalty of Violation 1-1 and affirmed the remaining violations. It also affirmed as modified Citation No. 317941568, vacating Violation 1-1a and Violation 1-10 and affirming the remaining violations. (CABR 2-20).

Northwest Abatement timely appealed to Pierce County Superior Court. After oral argument on October 26, 2018, Judge Stanley Rumbaugh issued Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Judgment affirming the Board's Decision and Order on May 22, 2019. Northwest Abatement timely appealed to Division II of the Court of Appeals. The Court issued its decision on March 2, 2021, upholding the Board's affirmation of the Department's citations in all respects.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

The Court of Appeals' decision in this case raises substantial factual and legal issues that should be taken up by the Supreme Court.

Pursuant to RAP 13.4, the Supreme Court should accept review because key portions of the Court of Appeals ruling are (1) in conflict with the Supreme Court's prior decision in *Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of America*, 110 Wn.2d 128 (1988); (2) in conflict with Division I's published decision in *Pilchuck Mechanical, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 170 Wn. App. 514, 519 (2012); and because the issues involve substantial public interest.

1. <u>Legal Standards on Review of Board Decision</u>.

To establish a prima facie case of a "serious" violation under WISHA, the Department must prove the following five elements by a preponderance of the evidence: (1) the cited standard applies; (2) the requirements of the standard were not met; (3) employees were exposed to, or had access to the violative conditions; (4) the employer knew or through the exercise of reasonable diligence, could have known of the violative condition; and (5) there is a substantial probability that death or serious physical harm could result from the violative condition. RCW 49.17.180; *SuperValu, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 158 Wn.2d 422, 433 (2006).

In a WISHA appeal, the appellate court directly reviews the Board's decision based on the record before the agency. *J.E. Dunn Northwest.*, *Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*, 139 Wn. App. 35, 42 (2007). The Court reviews findings of fact to determine whether they are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings support

the conclusions of law. RCW 49.17.150; *Mowat Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus*, 148 Wn. App. 920, 925 (2009). Evidence is substantial if sufficient to convince a fair-minded person of the truth of the premise. *Id.*

A. The Court of Appeals' statement and application of the "zone of danger" analysis conflicts with the Supreme Court's ruling in *Adkins* y. *Aluminum Co. of America*, 110 Wn.2d 128 (1988).

In framing the legal principles governing the third factor of a serious violation, exposure to the violative condition, the Court of Appeals cited to *Shimmick Construction Co. v. Dep't of Labor and Industries*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 770 (Div. I 2020), stating as follows:

DLI is not required to prove that a worker actually was exposed to a hazard to establish a serious violation of WISHA regulations. *Shimmick Constr.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 785. The requirement is that the worker be exposed to or have access to the violative conditions. *Id.* Access exposure is established by evidence that shows by reasonable predictability that workers have been, are, or will be in the zone of danger during the course of their duties. *Id.* The zone of danger is the area related to the violative condition that poses the type of hazard to workers that the regulation is intended to prevent. *Id.*

Opinion, page 13.

The *Shimmick* court relied upon the standards laid out by Division I in *Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 136 Wn. App. 1, 5 (2006), which in turn had relied upon the Supreme Court's decision in *Adkins v. Aluminum Co. of America*, 110 Wn.2d 128 (1988).

Mid Mountain involved a construction project where employees were working on a trench that had in one area a 4.5 foot high wall without any cave-in protection. Mid Mountain argued the Department had not established exposure to the hazard because its employees were working in a portion of the trench less than 4 feet deep and more than 5 feet away from the "zone of danger." Mid Mountain, at 5.

The Court of Appeals disagreed, adopting the following rules based on its discussion of the *Adkins* decision:

To determine whether a worker is exposed to a hazard in violation of WISHA, the Department must show that the [worker] *had access to the violative conditions.* [emphasis in original, citing to *Adkins*, at 147] To establish employee access, the Department must show by "reasonable predictability that, in the course of [the workers'] duties, employees will be, are, or have been in the zone of danger." [*Adkins*, at 147]...

Mid Mountain, at 5-6.

Adkins was decided under the negligence per se rules existing prior to RCW 5.40.050 (effective August 1, 1986), after which a breach of a duty imposed by regulation can only be used as evidence of negligence and not as negligence per se. Adkins, at 143-144. Having stated that caveat, the Supreme Court proceeded to issue the following analysis:

Thus, before WAC 296-24-15001 can apply to establish a standard of conduct under the negligence per se doctrine, a worker must be exposed to a hazard in his or her work area, regardless of whether that worker is a permanent employee

or a worker whose job is of short duration, such as Mr. Adkins. In deciding what constitutes the exposure to a hazard which will trigger application of the regulations, we will consider decisions construing the federal counterpart to WISHA, OSHA, and federal decisions involving machine guarding regulations. [cite omitted] Decisions by [OSHA] Commission] demonstrate that to establish a violation of a machine guarding regulation there must be sufficient evidence showing that employees had access to the violative conditions. To establish employee access, the Secretary of Labor must demonstrate a reasonable predictability that, in the course of their duties, employees will be, are, or have been in the zone of danger. [cite *omitted*] Where the danger is created by an unguarded machine, the Secretary of Labor can satisfy this burden of proof by demonstrating that the unguarded machine was located where employees could gain access to it and use it in the course of their normal duties. [cite omitted]

The Commission's "reasonably predictable" analysis is helpful in this case to deciding whether the machine guarding standards should be applied to establish a standard of conduct under the negligence per se doctrine.

Here, the fan was down inside an air vent, well away from any normal workplace and covered by a weather cap. ... We are unconvinced that it was reasonably predictable that Mr. Adkins would gain access to the fan in the course of his normal duties as a roofer. Indeed, the fan became a hazard only when he consciously and deliberately removed the cap and entered the vent, an area arguably beyond a roofer's normal work area. We conclude, therefore, that the evidence does not establish that Mr. Adkins was within the class of persons WAC 296-24-15001 was designed to protect, that is, a worker within the normal work area. Moreover, we cannot say that the danger presented by the fan was a hazard which the regulations were designed to protect against, that is, a hazard to which an employee would be reasonably predicted to gain access in the normal course of roofing duties. Therefore, we conclude that the

trial court did not err when it determined that the machine guarding regulations did not apply as a matter of law.

Adkins, at 146-148. The Court's language, limited to the context of an unguarded machine with a dangerous fan, clearly demonstrates the requirement that a hazard exist, not merely a violative condition.

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