FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
6/8/2021 4:11 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 99620-2

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

NORTHWEST ABATEMENT SERVICES, INC.,

Petitioner,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR & INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

James P. Mills Senior Counsel WSBA No. 36978 Office Id. 91040 PO Box 2317 Tacoma, WA 98401-237 (253) 593-5243

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

IV. ARGUMENT

The Washington Industrial Safety & Health Act (WISHA) is designed to protect workers from work place hazards like falls, injuries from vehicles while flagging, and asbestos exposure. This case presents a routine application of well-established WISHA law to the facts, so review is not merited. The Court of Appeals relied on established principles and thus further analysis on the issues raised in the petition will provide no meaningful guidance for other parties.

Northwest Abatement raises four arguments as to why review should be granted, but none justify review. First, Northwest Abatement's claim that the Court of Appeals' application of the zone of danger standard is inconsistent with Supreme Court precedent is without merit. Pet. 9 (citing *Adkins*, 110 Wn.2d 128). *Adkins* adopted the zone of danger

standard and, like many other Court of Appeal decisions, the Court here simply applied it to the facts of the case. Second, Northwest Abatement attempts to apply the wrong legal standard for showing a fall-protection violation—claiming a 6-foot standard from an inapplicable rule applies but the Court of Appeals correctly rejected this approach, and substantial evidence shows the worker was exposed to a fall hazard in any case. Third, Northwest Abatement's claim that treating a worker holding a stopand-slow paddle in an active bus lane as engaged in "temporary traffic control" is inconsistent with the flagging rules is nonsensical, and the case it cites, Pilchuck Contractors, Inc. v. Department of Labor & Industries, 170 Wn. App. 514, 286 P.3d 383 (2012), does not conflict with the decision here. Instead, that case only supports the Court of Appeals' reading of the rule. Finally, none of Northwest Abatement's demands to reweigh the evidence that shows it exposed its employees to asbestos, or any of the other safety violations, supports granting review. Allowing the Department to require employers to follow the asbestos protocols and other safety rules meant to keep workers from serious injury or death does not raise any issue of substantial public importance. This Court should deny review.

A. Review is Not Warranted to Reconsider Well-Established Law Applying WISHA's Exposure Element Because the Court of Appeals' Decisions are Consistent with *Adkins* and Further WISHA's Legislative Goals to Protect Workers from Injury

Northwest Abatement's suggestion that the Court of Appeals' exposure analysis here, and in prior cases, is inconsistent with *Adkins* lacks merit, so it provides no basis for review.

Following *Adkins*, the Courts of Appeals have developed a body of case law around the employee exposure element that furthers the Legislature's intent "to assure, insofar as may reasonably be possible, safe and healthful working conditions for every man and woman working in the state of Washington." RCW 49.17.010; *Shimmick Constr. Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 12 Wn. App. 2d 770, 785–86, 460 P.3d 192 (2020); *Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 136 Wn. App. 1, 5–7, 146 P.3d 1212 (2006) (citing *Adkins*, 110 Wn.2d at 131-32, 148). The Court of Appeals' consistent approach to exposure follows from the general principle in *Adkins* that the Department may establish exposure by showing "access to the violative conditions." 110 Wn.2d at 147.

In *Adkins*, the Court applied WISHA standards to a negligence case to conclude that a worker has neither exposure nor access to a violative working condition when the worker "consciously and deliberately" removed a protective barrier to reach the violative condition.

110 Wn.2d at 148. Under those circumstances, the Court concluded that it was not "a *reasonable predictability* that, in the course of their duties" the worker would have been in the zone of danger. 110 Wn.2d at 147.

Northwest Abatement's complaint that the Court of Appeals here did not follow *Adkins*'s analysis is misplaced. The type of conduct at issue in this case is simply not the same. Here, the workers were all engaged in tasks assigned by their employer at the worksite that resulted in the violations: they removed asbestos containing materials from the roof surface using mechanized saws and hand tools (the asbestos violations), they transported asbestos-containing waste materials to a chute using a wheelbarrow (the fall protection violation), and they used a stop-slow paddle to warn traffic that the truck was backing in-and-out of the worksite (flagging violations).

CP 551-52, 615, 621, 880-84, 890, 1047.

Nothing in the Court of Appeals' analysis here or in prior cases is inconsistent with *Adkins*. Since *Adkins*, the Courts of Appeals have developed a sensible and consistent approach to the exposure element based on *Adkins* and the federal OSHA cases addressing exposure. The courts have recognized that, to prove an employer exposed a worker to a hazard in violation of WISHA, the Department may show the worker was in the zone of danger covered by the regulation. *Shimmick*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 785–86 (citing *Wash. Cedar & Supply., Inc. v. Dept. of Labor &*

Indus., 119 Wn. App. 906, 914, 83 P.3d 1012, (2003)). Or the Department may show that the worker had *access* to the zone of danger by being near it. *Mid Mountain Contractors, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 136 Wn. App. 1, 5–7, 146 P.3d 1212 (2006). The Court of Appeals applied that well-reasoned analysis here. Slip op. at 7-8. Northwest's Abatement other complaints are without basis.

First, Northwest Abatement suggests that the *Adkins* Court's language is "limited to the context of an unguarded machine with a dangerous fan." Pet. 12. It is right that the "reasonable predictability" analysis is limited because the Court merely found that the federal courts' "reasonable predictability" analysis was helpful in analyzing the facts of that case. 110 Wn.2d at 147. But in looking at the "reasonable predictability" analysis, *Adkins* also recognized and reasoned that exposure can be established if "employees will be, are, or have been in the zone of danger." *Id.* It is this broader analysis that provides the framework for analyzing employee exposure for WISHA.

Northwest Abatement complains that the Courts of Appeals have expanded *Adkins*' analysis, creating conflict. It is wrong. The Supreme Court jurisprudence does not require that the Department show exposure to a "hazard" rather than exposure to a "violative condition." *Contra* Pet. 16 ("clearly demonstrates the requirement that a hazard exist, not merely a

violative condition."). This Court has already recognized that "if the violation concerns a specific standard, it is not necessary to even prove that a hazard exists, just that the specific standard was violated." Supervalu v. Dep't of Labor & Indus., 158 Wn.2d 422, 434, 144 P.3d 1160 (2006) (citing Lee Way Motor Freight, Inc. v. Sec'y of Labor, 511 F.2d 864, 869 (10th Cir.1975) (emphasis in original). In other words, the Department need only show exposure to the violative condition rather than to a "hazard." But, in any case, Northwest Abatement's quibbles are inconsequential. The Court of Appeals found that substantial evidence supports the findings of exposure to the hazard for each of the violations. Slip op. at 10 ("We conclude that substantial evidence supports the Board's determination that flagging violations 2-1, 2-2, and 2-3 exposed Murphy to a *hazard*") (emphasis added); slip op. at 8 ("DLI presented substantial evidence that supported the finding that a fall protection violation exposed Crakes to a hazard.") (emphasis added); slip op. at 10 ("Northwest Abatement argues that substantial evidence does not support the Board's determination that Northwest Abatement's employees were exposed to asbestos *hazards*. We disagree.") (emphasis added).

Contrary to Northwest Abatement's suggestion, the *Shimmick*Court and the Court of Appeals here also applied the correct standards
from *Adkins* and *Mid Mountain*. The *Shimmick* Court and the Court of

Appeals here merely considered a federal case in refuting the employers' "misapprehension of the meaning of 'zone of danger'" and there is nothing wrong with looking at federal OSHA cases when presented with a similar fact pattern. *Shimmick*, 12 Wn. App. 2d at 785.²

Finally, *Adkins* did not set a blackletter rule that the zone of danger must always be in the workers' "normal areas of work." *Contra* Pet. at 12-13. And suggesting that workers hired to remove an asbestos roof were not in their normal work area when all the violations occurred in places that were designated by the employer defies common sense. In *Adkins*, the Court found no exposure because the fan was out of the way and not within a worker's normal routine, while here the Department observed workers doing their normal routine and being exposed to the fall hazard. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that the Department showed actual exposure or access exposure to all the hazards identified under well-established appellate cases addressing exposure. There is no basis for review under RAP 13(b)(1) here.

² In interpreting WISHA, courts look to federal decisions under the federal Occupational Safety & Health Act (OSHA). *Asplundh Tree Expert Co. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 145 Wn. App. 52, 60, 185 P.3d 646 (2008).

B. Review Need Not Be Granted to Reconsider the Interpretation of the Flagging Rules Because Substantial Evidence Shows the Worker Was Engaged in Temporary Traffic Control

Northwest Abatement claims Murphy was "spotting" rather than flagging, but substantial evidence (and common sense) defeat this claim under the definition of flagger. Pet. 1. WAC 296-155-305 sets forth requirements for flagging: "[a] flagger is a person who provides temporary traffic control." Substantial evidence supports that there was temporary traffic control.

First, the project scope specifically states that Northwest Abatement's employees will need to "flag for [the Northwest Abatement truck driver] to place can," which is what Murphy was doing. CP 1127; CP 890. The photograph in Exhibit 1 shows Northwest Abatement worker Douglas Murphy "standing in the road with a stop/slow sign. The stop is towards oncoming traffic." CP 890, 1097. Also, Murphy explained that he was there because that "was right where the bus came in and our container truck had to go against traffic and back into our disposal site." CP 621. He was present "to hold up a stop sign so nobody would run into him when he was pulling into the job site" CP 621. This is "temporary traffic control" under the flagging rule. See WAC 296-155-305.

Northwest Abatement's claim that the Court of Appeals decision here is inconsistent with *Pilchuck* is spurious. As in *Pilchuck*, the Court of

Appeals looked at WAC 296-155-305 and seeing that "temporary traffic control" was undefined by the rule, it used *Pilchuck*'s approach of adopting the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD) definition, which described "flagging procedures as stopping, directing, slowing, and alerting traffic." Slip op. at 8; *Pilchuck*, 170 Wn. App. at 519. Just like in *Pilchuck*, the traffic control plan required flaggers (CP 949-50), yet both the employers in *Pilchuck* and in *Northwest Abatement* claim they weren't engaged in flagging. And both the *Pilchuck* Court and the Court of Appeals here refused to read all meaning out of the definition of "temporary traffic control" to allow the employer to escape responsibility for its safety failings. It is not a "substantial extension" of *Pilchuck* to treat a worker using a stop-slow sign in a bus lane as a flagger. Pet. 17. It's simply a correct application of the flagging rules to the facts of this case.

C. Review is Not Warranted to Reweigh the Evidence in a Substantial Evidence Case

Northwest Abatement's remaining arguments are simply a request for this Court to reweigh the Board's factual determinations after the superior court and Court of Appeals rejected Northwest Abatement's improper request to do so. There is no reason to grant review to consider these arguments for a third time.

First, the Court of Appeals correctly recognized that the Department presented substantial evidence that supported the finding that a fall protection violation exposed one of Northwest Abatement's workers to a fall hazard because he was standing "in front of an unguarded chute on top of the roof without fall protection," based on the eye-witness testimony and photographs of the violation. Slip op. at 7-8. Northwest Abatement's suggestion that the Department's citation was based primarily on the testimony of Andrew Baga, that the Department couldn't determine how close the worker was to the edge, and that the unprotected worker testified he didn't remember dumping the materials are all unsupported. Pet. 4. Northwest Abatement's employees confirmed that they "were loading out down the chute without being tied off," while the safety railing was incomplete. CP 618. The Department's inspector provided testimony regarding her observations of the lack of fall restraint protection on either side of the chute, which posed a fall hazard to someone standing near the chute. Slip op. at 8; CP 880-84; see also CP 1090-91.3 The inspector photographed the worker standing on the flat roof directly in front of the unguarded chute area without fall protection, and as

³ The chute led several stories down to the street level and a fall down the chute could result in serious injury or death. CP 880-84.

the Court of Appeals recognized, the worker depicted in the photograph confirmed the exposure. CP 1090-91; slip op. at 8; *see also* CP 880-84;

Second, substantial evidence supports that Northwest Abatement's flagger was in the zone of danger when he was committing the flagging violations. CP 46-47 (FOF 10, 12, 14); Mid Mountain, 136 Wn. App. at 6. Northwest Abatement's claim that the location he "was standing was closed due to the construction activities" is false. Pet. 16. Inspector Jonkman testified he was in an active bus lane where he could be injured by a bus. CP 889-90; CP 891 ("That particular location is a combination of the through traffic and the bus stop"). The worker also testified he was at an active bus stop. CP 635-36. Although the duration of traffic control was short, it was part of the regular work pattern at the work site because Northwest Abatement workers removed materials twice a day during the course of the project. Contra Pet. 5.4 Murphy reported that "[they did] it every time the truck came in and out," which would have been a once or twice per day. CP 622. As the Board recognized, the foreman testified: "I think we were given that sign to keep people from driving in, because there was people that would come and drop people off on the corner there while we were trying to do what we were doing." CP 597; CP 41. These

⁴ WISHA penalties take into consideration the duration of an event by reducing the penalty based on the probability of harm. *See* WAC 296-900-140. But in any event Northwest Abatement does not challenge the penalty calculations here.

facts establish exposure. *Mid Mountain*, 136 Wn. App. at 6. Northwest Abatement asserts that there was no exposure because there was no bus present at the time of the inspection. Pet. 16. But the exposure analysis turns on the potential for exposure to a hazard. *See Potelco, Inc. v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 191 Wn. App. 9, 27, 361 P.3d 767 (2015). What Northwest Abatement is really contesting is the likelihood of exposure—but this goes to a different element under calculation of a penalty. *See* WAC 296-900-140.

Finally, Northwest Abatement's claim that there was no asbestos on-site at the time of inspection and that the Department submitted no objective evidence showing asbestos exposure are unsupported. Pet. 16-18. Substantial evidence supports that asbestos was on-site at the time of inspection because the good faith inspection sample report shows there was asbestos present. CP 1024, 1267. Northwest Abatement's claim that all the asbestos containing materials were removed before the Department investigator observed its violations is patently false. Pet. 18. The roof was removed in sections and when the Department started its investigation the Northwest Abatement workers had not removed all the asphaltic materials because it had removed asphalt from only a quarter of the roof. CP 616. And, the workers were actively scraping along the asphaltic edges of the

next section, so the site was not free of asbestos containing materials as Northwest Abatement asserts. CP 541, 1025.

The Board and Court of Appeals correctly relied on the good faith inspection sample report to establish that asbestos was present. CP 1267; CP 9-20. And Northwest Abatement's claims to contrary are no basis for review.

V. CONCLUSION

For the above reasons, this Court should deny review.